THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM BERKELY COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

AUG 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Bentley D. Price
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001832
Case No.: 2018-CP-08-2423

200 River Landing Drive Phase I Condominium Association, Inc., and Steven Garcia and Janis Zomber, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated.....Respondents,

v.

Watkins Service, Inc., First Exteriors, LLC, Getulio Perela Chagas, FBM Construction, LLC d/b/a Fernando Monteiro, and John Doe Subcontractors or Material Suppliers 12-50.....Defendants,

Of which Getulio Perela Chagas is the Appellant.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in awarding a \$22,479,523.00 judgment against Appellant, when the preponderance of the evidence did not support the judgment, thus making the judgment a harsh and unwarranted outcome which is not in relation to the facts of the case.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This class action was commenced December 5, 2018 when the Plaintiffs filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Berkeley County. (R. pp. 46-73). The Plaintiffs include a property association comprised of unit owners from 5 condominium buildings, consisting of 94 residential units commonly known as “200 River Landing.” (R. pp. 48-49). The Plaintiffs also include individually situated owners at 200 River Landing. (R. p. 49, lines 14-17). The Plaintiffs’ summary of the allegations is the “matter arises out of the design and construction associated with the Joint Repair Scope of Work for 200 River Landing Drive Phase I, located in Berkeley County.” (R. p. 52, lines 2-3).

The Plaintiffs’ Complaint included claims against fifty-seven (57) defendants ranging from the developer of 200 River Landing to “John Doe” material suppliers. (R. pp. 49-51). Notably, Appellant was not a named defendant or otherwise specifically identified in the Plaintiffs’ Complaint. The Plaintiffs’ alleged the defendants “performed work in connection with the Joint Repair Scope of Work for 200 River Landing Drive Phase I or provided materials to the Project.” (R. p. 51, lines 14-21). The Plaintiffs further alleged the defendants “performed and provided materials for, inter alia, framing, WRB installation, brick veneer installation and repairs, concrete installation and repairs, caulking, and private balcony deck waterproofing installation and repairs.” (R. p. 51, lines 14-21).

Watkins Services, Inc. (“Watkins”) was identified as one of the named defendants in the Plaintiffs’ Complaint. (R. pp. 50-51). On February 1, 2019, the Plaintiffs filed an Amended Summons and Complaint. (R. pp. 74-102). In the Amended Complaint, the Plaintiffs added ACR Construction of SC, Inc. and Antonio Ribeiro (collectively “ACR”) as defendants. (R. pp. 79-80).

The Plaintiffs allege ACR was a subcontractor to Watkins and that ACR “performed various portions of the Joint Repair Scope of Work, including, but not limited to installation of windows and related flashings, handrails, guardrails and columns, fire stops, metal awnings, deck sheathing, balcony ceilings, balcony waterproofing and related flashings.” (R. pp. 79-80). On May 28, 2019, ACR filed its Third-Party Summons and Complaint. (R. pp. 103-121). ACR identified four (4) individual defendants, including Appellant. (R. pp. 103-121). ACR admitted it had been hired by Watkins to work at 200 River Landing. (R. p. 119, lines 14-15). ACR, however, affirmed it was only hired for a limited scope of “work related to window installation and decking waterproofing.” (R. p. 119, lines 14-15). ACR then alleged the four individual defendants it identified each “performed work at the subject property as subcontractors to ACR.” (R. p. 119, lines 19-22). At no point, did ACR distinguish in any manner the scope of work, time of work or any other details regarding the generic allegation Appellant and three other individual defendants allegedly “performed work at the subject property as subcontractors to ACR.”

In response to ACR’s Third-Party Complaint, on January 21, 2020 the Plaintiffs filed their Second Amended Summons and Complaint and directly named Appellant as a defendant. (R. pp. 122-161). The Plaintiffs also named as defendants the other three individuals identified by ACR in the Third-Party Complaint.

With regard to Appellant, the Plaintiffs allege “[u]pon information and belief, [Appellant], as a subcontractor to ACR, performed various portions of the Joint Repair Scope of Work, including, but not limited to installation of windows and related flashings, handrails, guardrails and columns, fire stops, metal awnings, deck sheathing, balcony ceilings, balcony waterproofing and related flashings.” (R. p. 129, lines 12-17 (*emphasis added*)). The Plaintiffs further allege “[u]pon information and belief, Defendants First Exteriors, LLC, ARC, ACR, DaSilva, [Appellant], Rodriguez, FBM, ACP, Superior,

Premier, and John Doe Subcontractors 11 through 50 provided services, labor and material to 200 River Landing Drive Phase I as set forth above as subcontractors or material suppliers to Watkins Services, Inc. and may hereinafter be referred to collectively as ‘Subcontractors.’” (R. p. 131, lines 6-10). Thereafter, for the remainder of the 31 page, 131 paragraph very detailed Complaint, the Plaintiffs do not again specifically mention Appellant nor make any allegations directly against Appellant. Instead, at all times, the Plaintiffs’ claims against Appellant are included in general allegations against Watkins and the 50+ other defendants who “upon information and belief,” may have worked at 200 River Landing. The Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint is unliquidated.

Within 76 days, by April 6, 2020, the Plaintiffs had served Appellant via publication and had the trial court enter an Entry of Default against Appellant. (R. pp. 3-5). Appellant was not aware, however, of the existence of this action until July 13, 2021. (R. p. 203, lines 9-13). This was true because in 2011 Appellant was deported from the United States to Brazil, and since that time has not returned to the United States. (R. p. 203, lines 17-20).

In the years which followed the April 6, 2020 Entry of Default against Appellant, the Plaintiffs were successful in securing hefty settlements with many of the other defendants in this action. (R. pp. 21-30; R. pp. 31-40). In total, the Plaintiffs recovered \$15,460,000.00. (R. p. 22; R. p. 33). Those settlements included settling claims against Watkins for \$10,000,000.00 and settling claims against ACR for \$1,925,000.00. (R. p. 22; R. p. 32). Recall, the Plaintiffs allege Appellant was hired by ACR, who was hired by Watkins. The large settlements with Watkins and ACR do not include any breakdown or delineation as to which damages of the Plaintiffs are covered by the \$11,925,000.00. (R. pp. 21-30; R. pp. 31-40).

On August 15, 2023, the Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Damages Hearing as against Appellant. (R. pp. 266-277). On October 18, 2023, the trial court held a hearing with regard to damages as against Appellant (the “Hearing”). (R. pp. 161-187). At the Hearing, the Plaintiffs moved for the entry of a judgment against Appellant in the amount of \$22,479,553.00. (R. p. 182, lines 9-19). This amount is the “full amount” of the Plaintiffs’ damages expert’s repair estimate less \$15,640,000.00 in settlement proceeds already received by the Plaintiffs. (R. p. 182, lines 9-19).

At the Hearing, the Plaintiffs presented two witnesses, both experts hired by the Plaintiffs. (R. p. 163, lines 2-9). Notably, the Plaintiffs did not present any evidence or witness testimony from Watkins or ACR, the parties who allegedly hired and paid Appellant to work on 200 River Landing.

The Plaintiffs’ first witness at the Hearing was Forrett Lott, a licensed architect. (R. p. 163, lines 2-9). In response to inquiry from counsel for the Plaintiffs, Mr. Lott provided general testimony regarding his expert scope, the large size of 200 River Landing and the damage to the numerous condominium buildings due to “two primary sources, water intrusion and termite damage.” (R. p. 168- 170). Mr. Lott further testified regarding his written report which included repairs for *all* of 200 River Landing. (R. p. 173). Again, 200 River Landing includes 5 separate condominium buildings and 94 residential units. (R. p. 125, lines 10-15).

Mr. Lott was not able to provide any testimony regarding Appellant, Appellant’s scope of work, the dates Appellant allegedly worked at 200 River Landing, nor any distinctions between Appellant’s work and the work of at least 49 other defendants. (R. p. 174, lines 6-25). Ultimately, Mr. Lott was not able to provide any testimony to the trial court as to a monetary damage amount in any way attributed to Appellant. (R. p. 175, lines 9-17).

The Plaintiffs' second witness at the Hearing was John DeWitte. (R. p. 175, lines 18-25). Mr. DeWitte served as the Plaintiffs' construction and cost fee expert. (R. p. 180, lines 8-25; R. p. 181, lines 1-25). Mr. DeWitte was not able to provide any testimony regarding Appellant, Appellant's scope of work, the dates Appellant allegedly worked at 200 River Landing, nor any distinctions between Appellant's work and the work of at least 49 other defendants. (R. p. 180, lines 8-25; R. p. 181, lines 1-25). Ultimately, Mr. DeWitte was not able to provide any testimony to the trial court as to a monetary damage amount in any way attributed to Appellant. (R. p. 181, lines 15-24).

On October 25, 2023, the trial court entered a Judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs and against Appellant (the "Judgment"). (R. pp. 41-45). The Judgment is in the amount of \$22,479,523.00. (R. p. 44, lines 10-15). As requested by the Plaintiffs, the Judgment acknowledges the amount awarded is equal to the full amount of the Plaintiffs' cost to repair less the \$15,460,000.00 in settlement. (R. p. 44, lines 5-15). The Judgment does not identify any damages attributable to Appellant. (R. pp. 41-45). The Judgment does not identify what amount of the settlement proceeds paid by Watkins and ACS (those who the Plaintiffs allege hired Appellant) are attributable to Appellant. (R. pp. 41-45). Instead, the Judgment attempts to correlate the \$22,479,523.00 award to Appellant by noting Appellant is a "joint tortfeasor." (R. p. 44, lines 10-11).

On November 21, 2023, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal with this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The trial judge has considerable discretion regarding the amount of damages, both actual or punitive. Because of this discretion, our review on appeal is limited to the correction of errors of law. Our task in reviewing a damages award is not to weigh the evidence, *but to determine if there is any evidence to support the damages award.*” *Solley v. Navy Federal Credit Union*, 397 S.C. 192, 203 (Ct.App. 2012) (*quoting Austin v. Specialty Transp. Servs. Inc.*, 358 S.C. 298, 310-311 (Ct.App. 2004)) (*emphasis added*).

ARGUMENT

The Judgment should be set aside because the preponderance of the evidence did not support the Judgment, thus making the Judgment a harsh and unwarranted outcome which is not in relation to the facts of the case. This issue has been recently and routinely addressed by the Court with guidance to trial courts for the proper handling of inflated default damage awards like the present matter.

“The entry of default is an official recognition of the failure to appear or otherwise respond, but is not a judgment by default.” *5 Star Life Ins. Co. v. Peek Performance, Inc.*, 434 S.C. 334 (Ct.App. 2021) (*quoting Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 238, 241–42 (1978)). “[T]here is a difference between a defendant being declared in default and subsequently having judgment entered against him for damages.” *5 Star* (*citing Alex Sanders & John S. Nichols, Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers* § 4:10 (5th ed. 2020)).

Because there is a difference between an entry of default and a monetary judgment, “[w]hether a defendant is or is not in default, it is incumbent upon the judge and/or the jury to make a judicial determination of the amount recoverable *based on the proof.*” *Renney v. Dobbs House, Inc.*, 275 S.C. 562 (1981) (*emphasis added*). Therefore, “[p]articipation by the defending party will give to the judge and/or jury a broader understanding of the amount which should be awarded and will tend to insure a

more fair verdict and judgment.” *Id.* at 568. Moreover, “the trial court and this court should closely scrutinize the award to prevent harsh, unwarranted results.” *Renney* at 568. Ultimately, in *Renney*, the Court opined “this award is patently so greatly out-of-proportion to the wrongs alleged in the complaint that this court, as a matter of common law, and independent of s 15-27-130, should not allow the same to stand. We raise the issue *ex mero motu*.” *Id.* at 567.

“The amount of damages in a default action must be proved by the preponderance of the evidence.” *Solley v. Navy Federal Credit Union, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 192, 203 (Ct.App. 2012) (*citing Renney supra*). “A judgment for money damages must be warranted by the proof of the party in whose favor it is rendered.” *Id.* (*quoting Jackson v. Midlands Human Res. Ctr.*, 296 S.C. 526, 529 (Ct.App.1988)). In *Jackson*, the Court held the trial court’s judgment for the full price of a contract was clearly excessive and did not account for deductions which should have been made given the facts of the case. 296 S.C. 526.

In 2014, the Court noted the “line of cases” in which the South Carolina Supreme Court “criticized trial courts for awarding default damages in the inflated amounts sometimes found in the prayer for relief in a complaint.” *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Marion Amphitheatre, LLC*, 408 S.C. 87, 90 (Ct.App. 2014). The Court further noted “[i]t is common knowledge ... that in a tort action the amount stated in the prayer for relief often bears little relation to the amount which the plaintiff is entitled to recover.” 408 S.C. at 90. Concluding, the Court reminded trial courts, “[a]s *Solley* demonstrates, therefore, the principle that a plaintiff must prove his damages even when the defendant is in default applies to all damages claims in default cases.” *Id.*

Here, the Judgment is a harsh and unwarranted result which is not supported by the pleadings, the evidence or testimony at the Hearing. Neither the Plaintiffs nor the trial court made an attempt to distinguish between or otherwise delineate damages fairly and equitably attributable to the work performed by Appellant. Instead the Judgment summarily awards against *only* Appellant the entire

amount of damages as pled by the Plaintiffs against 50+ defendants. Defendants which included the developer, general contractor and major subcontractors.

The amount of damages presented by the Plaintiffs at the Hearing are the exact same damages which the Plaintiffs sought to repair the entirety of 200 River Landing, all 5 Condominium Buildings and 94 residential units. Appellant is an individual alleged to have worked as a third or fourth tier subcontractor, at some unknown alleged point in time. The Judgment is harsh and unwarranted.

A. The Pleadings bear little relation to the Judgment.

The pleadings and record are devoid of evidence which identifies the exact scope of work performed by Appellant and the damages attributable to Appellant's scope of work. In fact, when the Plaintiffs initially filed this action they did not specifically include Appellant as a defendant. (R. pp. 46-73). Even before knowing of Appellant's existence, the Plaintiffs already alleged the defendants at that time had "performed and provided materials for, inter alia, framing, WRB installation, brick veneer installation and repairs, concrete installation and repairs, caulking, and private balcony deck waterproofing installation and repairs." (R. p. 51, lines 14-21).

On February 1, 2019, the Plaintiffs filed an Amended Summons and Complaint. (R. pp. 74-102). In the Amended Complaint, the Plaintiffs added ACR as a defendant. (R. p. 79, lines 17-24; R. p. 80, lines 1-3). The Plaintiffs alleged ACR was a subcontractor to Watkins and that ACR "performed various portions of the Joint Repair Scope of Work, including, but not limited to installation of windows and related flashings, handrails, guardrails and columns, fire stops, metal awnings, deck sheathing, balcony ceilings, balcony waterproofing and related flashings." (R. p. 79, lines 17-24; R. p. 80, lines 1-3).

On May 28, 2019, ACR filed its Third-Party Summons and Complaint. (R. pp. 103-121). ACR identified four (4) individual defendants, including Appellant. (R. pp. 103-121). ACR admitted it had been hired by Watkins to work at 200 River Landing. (R. p. 119, lines 14-15). ACR, however, affirmed it was only hired for a limited scope of “work related to window installation and decking waterproofing.” (R. p. 119, lines 14-15). ACR then alleged the four individual defendants it identified each “performed work at the subject property as subcontractors to ACR.” (R. p. 119, lines 19-22). At no point, did ACR distinguish in any manner the scope of work, time of work or any other details regarding the generic allegation Appellant and three other individual defendants allegedly “performed work at the subject property as subcontractors to ACR.”

On January 21, 2020, after being alerted to the mere existence of Appellant by virtue of ACR’s Third-Party Complaint, the Plaintiffs filed their Second Amended Summons and Complaint and directly named Appellant as a defendant. (R. pp. 122-160). The Plaintiffs also named as defendants the other three individuals identified by ACR in the Third-Party Complaint.

With regard to Appellant, the Plaintiffs alleged “[u]pon information and belief, [Appellant], as a subcontractor to ACR, performed various portions of the Joint Repair Scope of Work, including, but not limited to installation of windows and related flashings, handrails, guardrails and columns, fire stops, metal awnings, deck sheathing, balcony ceilings, balcony waterproofing and related flashings.” (R. p. 129, lines 10-17 (*emphasis added*)). The Plaintiffs further alleged “[u]pon information and belief, Defendants First Exteriors, LLC, ARC, ACR, DaSilva, [Appellant], Rodriguez, FBM, ACP, Superior, Premier, and John Doe Subcontractors 11 through 50 provided services, labor and material to 200 River Landing Drive Phase I as set forth above as subcontractors or material suppliers to Watkins Services, Inc. and may hereinafter be referred to collectively as ‘Subcontractors.’” (R. p. 131, lines 6-10). Thereafter, for the remainder of the 31 page, 131 paragraph very detailed Complaint, the

Plaintiffs do not again specifically mention Appellant nor make any allegations directly against Appellant. Instead, at all times, the Plaintiffs' claims against Appellant are included in general allegations against Watkins and the 50+ other defendants who "upon information and belief," may have worked at 200 River Landing. The Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint is unliquidated.

The Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint provides no support for the Judgment. The Judgment, therefore, bears little relation to the amount which the Plaintiffs are entitled to recover and is so greatly out-of-proportion to the wrongs alleged in the pleadings it respectfully should be set aside by this Court.

B. The Hearing did not provide sufficient evidence of damages against Appellant.

At the Hearing, neither the Plaintiffs nor the trial court made an attempt to distinguish between or otherwise delineate damages fairly and equitably attributable to the work performed by Appellant. (R. pp. 161-187). During the Hearing, the Plaintiffs did not produce evidence or testimony which identified the exact scope of work performed by Appellant and the damages attributable to Appellant's scope of work. (R. pp. 161-187). Even though they had been paid \$11,925,000.00 by Watkins and ACR, the Plaintiffs called no witnesses from Watkins or ACR, the two parties the Plaintiffs allege hired Appellant and directed his scope of work. (R. pp. 161-187).

Instead, at the Hearing, the Plaintiffs proceeded without regard to the directives and instructions set forth in *Renney, Wells Fargo, Solley and Jackson*. And to the contrary, the Plaintiffs directly moved the trial court for entry of a judgment for the "full amount" of their damages (\$37,939,523.00) less \$15,460,000.00 in settlement, for a judgment in the amount of \$22,479,553.00. (R. p. 182, lines 1-25). The Plaintiffs did not present documentary evidence nor witness testimony to the trial court with regard to Appellant, Appellant's scope of work, the dates Appellant allegedly worked at 200 River Landing, nor any distinctions

between Appellant's work and the work of at least 49 other defendants. (R. p. 174, lines 6-25; R. p. 180, lines 9-25; R. p. 121, lines 1-25). Ultimately, the Plaintiffs were not able to provide testimony to the trial court as to a monetary damage amount in any way attributed to Appellant. (R. p. 174, lines 6-25; R. p. 180, lines 9-25; R. p. 121, lines 1-25).

Thus the Hearing does not provide support for the Judgment. The Judgment, therefore, bears little relation to the amount which the Plaintiffs are entitled to recover and is so greatly out-of-proportion to the wrongs alleged it respectfully should be set-aside by this Court.

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