RECEIVED

Aug 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS**

The Honorable Bentley D. Price,
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001832
Case No.: 2018-CP-08-02423

200 River Landing Drive Phase I Condominium Association, Inc., and Steven Garcia and Janis Zomber, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated..... Respondents

v.

Watkins Services, Inc., First Exteriors, LLC, Getulio Perela Chagas, FBM Construction LLC d/b/a Fernando Monteiro, and John Doe Subcontractors or Material Suppliers 12-50.....Defendants

of Getulio Perela Chagas is the Appellant.

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

Regardless, the right to apportionment of a plaintiff's total damages is available only to a joint tortfeasor *who is not grossly negligent*. Here, Chagas could not require apportionment of Respondents' total damages for the simple reason that Chagas admitted he was grossly negligent and did not appeal this finding by the Circuit Court. (**R. pp. 148-149, ¶ 114; p. 44, ¶ 13**). *See Solley*, 397 S.C. at 212, 723 S.E.2d at 607-08 (by defaulting the bank admitted the plaintiff's allegation that it was grossly negligent); *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund*, 327 S.C. at 241, 489 S.E.2d at 472 (unappealed finding is the law of the case). This alone forecloses any right of apportionment Chagas might have had if he appeared in the action and made a motion. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-15(F) (stating apportionment does not apply to a defendant whose conduct is grossly negligent).

In this case, after Respondents established their damages through expert testimony, Chagas merely argued that Respondents failed to present evidence of what portion of those total damages were attributable to Chagas.⁷ (R. pp. 183-184). This is contrary to the law. Chagas ignores that Section 15-38-15(C)(3) provides that when apportionment of the total damages is made in proper cases, no additional evidence is allowed. Accordingly, as a grossly negligent joint tortfeasor in default, Chagas expects Respondents to satisfy an even higher bar than the law would require of Respondents had this matter proceeded to trial against parties who appeared in the action and defended themselves.

Embracing such an odd result would almost certainly encourage parties to default in cases involving indivisible injury, because the net result of Chagas's argument is that by virtue of his own default, Chagas is relieved of his burden to establish a right to apportionment, and Respondents' burden to prove damages becomes greater than it would have been before a judge or jury. Such an absurd result is contrary to the law and policy of this State. *Limehouse*, 404 S.C. at 116, 744 S.E.2d at 578-79 ("If our courts were to allow a defaulting defendant to fully participate in a post-default hearing, we believe there would be no consequence of default."); *see also Oaks at Rivers Edge Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Daniel Island Riverside Developers, LLC*, 420 S.C. 424, 442 n.5, 803 S.E.2d 475, 485 (Ct. App. 2017) (finding no error in refusing to allocate damages

⁷ Ostensibly, had he not defaulted, at trial Chagas could have offered whatever evidence he may have to try and mitigate his role in causing the substantial damages to Respondents' buildings. However, the opportunity to present such evidence is foreclosed to him in a default damages hearing. *See Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 116, 744 S.E.2d 566, 578-79 (2013) (reaffirming the well-settled premise adopted in *Howard*, 271 S.C. at 241, 246 S.E.2d at 882 that limits a defaulting defendant to cross-examination and objection the plaintiff's evidence). By suggesting that *Respondents* were required to then present such evidence at the default damages hearing in addition to proving their total damages, Chagas is not only trying to shift his own defense burden to Respondents, but Chagas is also seeking to reap the benefit of evidence he could not have introduced even if he actually defended the action and sought apportionment post-verdict. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-15(C)(3) (no new evidence is allowed).

pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-15(A) because the appellant was found grossly negligent, foreclosing the right to allocation by virtue of Section 15-38-15(F)).

It is neither fair nor logical to punish Respondents and reward Chagas for his own default. This is why Chagas is unable to cite any authority supporting the idea that a plaintiff is required to apportion damages attributable to a grossly negligent defendant at a default hearing.

II. None of the authorities relied upon by Chagas support his argument that Respondents had to demonstrate “what exactly Mr. Chagas did[.]”

The substance of Chagas’s argument relies on only four cases,⁸ none of which support the idea that a plaintiff is required to satisfy the additional burden to allocate or apportion default damages *after* proving by a preponderance of the evidence the total amount of damages suffered. (App. Br., pp. 8-9) (**R. pp. 183-184**). If anything, these cases demonstrate that Respondents met every requirement and proved their damages through unopposed expert testimony of the kind routinely relied upon to value damages in construction defect cases. To demonstrate this, Respondents address each of the four cases relied upon by Chagas.

The issue in *Renney* was that the defendant was never notified of the damages hearing and had no ability to participate. The Supreme Court remanded the case for a damages hearing to allow the defendant that opportunity. In reaching its decision, the Court explained “When the defaulting party is not given an opportunity to participate in the damages hearing, the trial court and this court should closely scrutinize the award to prevent harsh, unwarranted results.” *Renney*, 275 S.C. at 568, 274 S.E.2d at 293. Here, Chagas does not (and cannot) claim he lacked notice of the hearing—Chagas participated through counsel and had every opportunity to cross examine Respondents’

⁸ Chagas primarily relies upon *Renney v. Dobbs House, Inc.*, 275 S.C. 562, 568, 274 S.E.2d 290, 293 (1981); *Wells Fargo Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. Marion Amphitheatre, LLC*, 408 S.C. 87, 92, 757 S.E.2d 557, 560 (Ct. App. 2014); *Jackson v. Midlands Human Res. Ctr.*, 296 S.C. 526, 529, 374 S.E.2d 505, 507 (Ct. App. 1988); and *Solley v. Navy Fed. Credit Union, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 192, 203, 723 S.E.2d 597, 602 (Ct. App. 2012). (App. Br., *passim*).

experts and object to evidence. *Id.* at 568, 274 S.E.2d at 293 (“Participation by the defending party will give to the judge and/or jury a broader understanding of the amount which should be awarded and will tend to insure a more fair verdict and judgment.”). Because that occurred here, *Renney* lends no help to Chagas. Furthermore, considering Chagas never challenged that Respondents’ five buildings require more than \$37.9 million and two and a half years to repair, it rings hollow to suggest that the judgment should not stand, as the damages award is plainly in keeping with wrongs alleged in Respondents’ Complaint. (App. Br., p. 9).

In *Wells Fargo*, the Court of Appeals reversed because the special referee wrongfully concluded the requested damages were liquidated and awarded damages without ever conducting a damages hearing. *Wells Fargo Bank*, 408 S.C. at 92, 757 S.E.2d at 560. Here, Chagas appeared and participated in the hearing, but counsel neither objected to nor meaningfully cross examined the experts’ testimony and reports as to the scope and total cost of repair, which established Respondents’ indivisible damages in an amount exceeding \$37.9 million. **(R. pp. 174-175, 181-181)**. *Wells Fargo* is inapplicable to the argument Chagas attempts to make.

Likewise, in *Jackson*, the plaintiff sought and received an award of special damages in addition to general damages. However, because the plaintiff “presented no evidence” from which the alleged special damages could be calculated, the Court of Appeals reversed that portion of the award and remanded for entry of a judgment for general damages only. *Jackson*, 296 S.C. at 529, 374 S.E.2d at 507. Here, unopposed evidence of Respondents’ cost of repair supports the Circuit Court’s award of damages, which were the only damages Respondents requested at the hearing. *Jackson* does not apply, especially considering that this Court’s scope of review is limited to determining whether *any evidence* supports the award. *Solley*, 397 S.C. at 203, 723 S.E.2d at 602.

In *Solley*, the appellant bank allegedly placed a \$233,000 mortgage on property co-owned by the plaintiff without her knowledge. The plaintiff brought a claim for slander of title against the bank, which then defaulted. A special referee held a default hearing, and the Circuit Court then adopted the special referee's recommendation to award \$230,000 in actual damages and \$400,000 in punitive damages. The bank appealed, arguing the plaintiff's testimony revealed she had suffered *no damages* because she admittedly never attempted to sell or mortgage her interest in the home that was encumbered by the mortgage at issue. Because the record contained *no evidence* that the plaintiff had suffered any loss related to *her interest* in the home, this Court reversed as to that portion of the award related to the \$233,000 mortgage, which is the correct result under the "any evidence" standard of review. However, this Court found the plaintiff was entitled to an award of attorney's fees and remanded the case for the special referee to determine the amount to award, together with an instruction to reevaluate the punitive damages award in light of the adjusted figure for actual damages. *Solley*, 397 S.C. at 213, 723 S.E.2d at 608.

Solley does not speak to, much less support, the notion that a plaintiff, after establishing his or her total damages, must nevertheless then go further and offer additional evidence to apportion what degree or portion of his or her indivisible damages is specifically attributable to a joint tortfeasor in default. Here, the evidence in the record demonstrates that Respondents proved the amount of their damages exceeded \$37.9 million as shown through expert testimony and reports. (**R. pp. 161-187, *passim*; pp. 188-192, 193-200**). Neither by objection nor by cross-examination has Chagas *ever* cast doubt upon Respondents' evidence of the total cost of repair, nor has Chagas argued it was error to find Respondents' damages were "indivisible" in nature.⁹

⁹ Once again, by not appealing either of these two findings, it is the law of this case that Respondents suffered "indivisible" damages of \$37,939,523. *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund*, 327 S.C. at 241, 489 S.E.2d at 472 (unappealed finding is the law of the case).

(R. pp. 43-44, ¶¶ 12, 14). In fact, Chagas argued that because the damages are indivisible, this meant Respondents could not prove any amount of the damages were attributable to Chagas. (R. p. 184).

Because Chagas admitted he proximately caused Respondents' indivisible damages in the amount established at the hearing, the Circuit Court entered judgment against Chagas in the net amount of \$22,479,523.00, after accounting for the \$15,460,000.00 set off for settlements received from other defendants.¹⁰ (R. p. 44, ¶ 16; p. 182). Therefore, unlike the lack of evidence of damages in *Solley*, here the record contains evidence in the form of Respondents' cost of repair and related expert testimony supporting the Circuit Court's award of damages.

Nothing in *Solley*, nor any of the authorities cited by Chagas, lends credence to the notion that Respondents were required to put forth evidence to somehow “**determine what of that [\$37,939,523.00] Mr. Chagas, in fact, did**” as Chagas argued to the Circuit Court. (R. p. 184). *Renney, Wells Fargo, Solley, and Jackson* were all correctly decided and confirm two fundamental themes that are not in dispute: First, Chagas was entitled to cross examine witnesses and object to Respondents' evidence. Second, Respondents needed to prove their damages by a preponderance of the evidence. The record reflects that both of these requirements were fulfilled. Chagas has not cited any authority that supports his naked assertion that Respondents were required to do more, such as attempting to somehow delineate what portion of Respondents' uncontested damages were attributed to Chagas's exact scope of work. Chagas's conclusory reliance upon cases that do not

¹⁰ Chagas cannot have his cake and eat it too. Chagas received the benefit of 100% of this significant set off because the damages were shown to be indivisible in nature, a finding which Chagas did not appeal. If this was *not* true, Chagas would not be entitled to the entire set off. *Smith v. Widener*, 397 S.C. 468, 724 S.E.2d 188 (Ct. App. 2012) (noting that where the settlement is for the same injury as a matter of law, “the right to setoff arises as an operation of law, and the circuit court must award a setoff.”).

stand for the proposition argued is tantamount to citing no authority whatsoever. *Oaks at Rivers Edge Prop. Owners Ass'n*, 420 S.C. at 445 n.7, 803 S.E.2d at 486 (noting when an appellant fails to cite any authority for their position and makes conclusory arguments, the issue is abandoned on appeal). This Court should affirm the Circuit Court for this reason alone.

III. The default judgment should be affirmed because it is in keeping with the allegations of the Complaint and supported by competent evidence in the record.

Generally, a default judgment must relate to allegations of the complaint and the amount must be supported by evidence. Relying on these general principles, the argument Chagas presents in his brief is divided among three headings: First, heavily relying on prior versions of the pleadings that have no relevance to this appeal,¹¹ Chagas makes the conclusory allegation that the operable Complaint bears little relation to the judgment. (App. Br., pp. 3-5,10-11). Second, he asserts there “is not sufficient evidence *against [Chagas]*” (App. Br. p. 12) (emphasis added). Third, he contends the judgment “does not provide sufficient evidence of damages *against [Chagas.]*” (App. Br. p. 13) (emphasis added).

At the risk of being repetitive, Chagas’ argument relies on a false premise. As explained above, Respondents are not required to provide evidence to prove *what portion* of their total damages are attributable “against Chagas.” This argument conflates issues of causation and apportionment (neither of which were before the Circuit Court) with Respondents’ obligation to provide proof sufficient to establish *their total damages* by a preponderance of the evidence. By

¹¹ Chagas was placed in default of Respondents’ Second Amended Complaint, which is the operable pleading, and Chagas’ reference to prior pleadings is irrelevant. *Schein v. Lamar*, 284 S.C. 252, 255, 325 S.E.2d 573, 574 (Ct. App. 1985) (“Since the First Amended Complaint has been superseded by the Second Amended Complaint, it is no longer the operative pleading in the case. Thus, any questions as to the sufficiency of the First Amended Complaint are now moot.”); *see also*, Rule 209, SCACR (“A party shall not include any matter in his Designation which is not relevant to the appeal.”).

trying to distinguish himself from other joint tortfeasors, Chagas is attempting to litigate his liability and issues of causation, both of which are conceded by his default. This entirely misses the mark. The question is *not* whether the allegations of the complaint and the evidence of damages support a finding of *what portion* of Respondents' total damages are attributable to Chagas. Instead, the question is whether the allegations of the complaint, and the evidence presented to and relied upon by the Circuit Court, support the finding that Respondents suffered total damages in excess of \$37.9 million (\$22.4 million after setoff). As explained above, the answer to this question is easily, "yes." Nonetheless, for the sake of completeness Respondents address the three topics raised by Chagas.

A. The allegations of the Complaint are in keeping with the award of damages.

The Respondents' well-pled Complaint sets forth the factual allegations and causes of action that support the judgment. (**R. pp. 124-152**). Citing no case law whatsoever, Chagas makes the conclusory argument¹² that Respondents' Complaint—despite being admittedly "very detailed"—provides no support for the judgment. (App. Br., pp. 5, 10-11). Even a cursory review of the Complaint reveals that Chagas is grasping at straws.

The Complaint explains that the claims arise from construction deficiencies associated with the Joint Repair Scope of Work for 200 River Landing Drive Phase I. (**R. p. 131, ¶ 32**). By undertaking and performing work on this large-scale project, the Complaint alleges that Chagas owed a duty to Respondents to complete the Joint Repair Scope of Work at 200 River Landing Drive Phase I free from defects, in a good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with

¹² Because Chagas's claim about the sufficiency of the Complaint is conclusory, it should be deemed abandoned, and not considered. *Oaks at Rivers Edge Prop. Owners Ass'n*, 420 S.C. at 445 n.7, 803 S.E.2d at 486 (explaining abandonment of conclusory arguments on appeal).

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